OY7 Wago

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERIC LEE GLABUIS,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 88,413

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida

FILED

SUSAN D. CLINE Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 377856 Attorney for Eric Lee Glabuis Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor 421 3rd Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Eric Lee Glabuis¹, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. He will be referred to by name or as Petitioner in this brief. Respondent was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the district court.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbols will be used:

"R" = Record on Appeal documents

"T" = Record on Appeal transcripts.

This is the spelling which was reflected in the style of the Notice of Appeal (R 37). In its decision, the Fourth District Court of Appeal spelled the last name "Glaubis" in the style of the case, although the decision correctly utilized the Glabuis spelling. To further complicate matters, it now appears that the actual spelling of Petitioner's last name is "Glaubius." Petitioner moved in the fourth district to correct the spelling to Glaubius, and planned to then so move in this Court. However, the fourth district has yet to rule on the motion. This Court adopted the misspelling used by the fourth district in the style of the decision, rather than the Glabuis spelling utilized by Petitioner in his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction. At this point, Petitioner will utilize the Glabuis spelling, as that was the spelling utilized in the fourth district in all but the style of the decision which was obviously an error.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Eric Lee Glabuis, was charged by Information filed in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit with grand theft (R 7-8).

On December 13, 1994, Petitioner filed a written petition to enter a plea of nolo contendere as charged (R 18-23). On January 10, 1995, Petitioner appeared for sentencing and a restitution hearing. The parties had agreed to recommend a sentence of three (3) years probation with withheld adjudication of guilt (T 2-3, R 27-33). The parties had not agreed as to the matter of restitution and that was left open to the court (T 2-3). The court placed Petitioner on probation for a period of five (5) years with the condition that the probation could be terminated in three (3) years if he had fulfilled all the conditions of his probation. He was ordered to pay \$255 in court costs; \$200 in attorney fees; \$25 in "costs of investigation" to the Okeechobee County Sheriff's Office; and restitution to Beall's in an amount to be determined in the restitution portion of the hearing. Numerous special conditions of probation were also imposed (T 11-14, R 30-33).

The court then conducted a restitution hearing at which the following evidence was presented:

Gregory Sherrell, regional loss prevention manager, conducted an investigation at Beall's Outlet which was initiated when Manager Rebecca Lee contacted him about her suspicions concerning refund transactions. She noted there were some similarities in handwriting and that when Petitioner was working, there were some sizeable refunds compared to when other supervisors worked. Sherrell, his counterpart on the other coast, and Sherrell's boss, Dan Doyle, met twice on a weekday for an hour and a half each time to review refund slips from the store (T 18-20, 42). Sherrell also spent three hours at the store investigating the theft and setting up a surveillance camera (T 42). Ms. Lee was also there to open and close the store. One clerk did approximately 12 hours

of research (T 43). Sherrell spent about 15 hours reviewing video tape from the camera. He also claimed six hours total drive time for two round trips from Orlando to Okeechobee (T 44). Taking into consideration the installation of the electronic hidden camera system over the register, his time and the time the other three investigators spent reviewing video tapes and refund slips, he approximated that 40 hours were involved in the internal investigation. When asked what cost per investigative hour was being sought for restitution, Sherrell stated, "Well, that would be a somewhat arbitrary figure. I mean none of us are really paid hourly, but again the equipment, the gas money, the company vehicles and the time, I would think that \$40 an hour would be fair." Subsequent to Sherrell's investigation, he and Brown confronted Petitioner on November 2, 1994 (T 21). Petitioner admitted to taking merchandise and money from the store. He admitted to removing \$360 cash from the register or the office, some of which he admittedly paid back. In other words, the store would incur a shortage and then maybe an overage a day or two later when Petitioner repaid it (T 22). He also admitted to taking merchandise, but the majority of the theft was refund fraud (T 23). At the time of the interview, Sherrell had a random sampling of refunds from the store, some of which were not done by Petitioner. Petitioner went through and initialled the ones he admitted were fraudulent. Petitioner would complete customer information when no customer was present and input into the register system fraudulent merchandise returns which were also not present and then he would pocket the cash. The total of the fraudulent refunds to which Petitioner admitted was \$792.62 (T 24). Sherrell and Petitioner tried to estimate totals including the fraudulent receipts and the theft of merchandise and cash. Petitioner's fraudulent activity did not begin when he was first employed. Sherrell believed Petitioner said the thefts began when he became a supervisor which was approximately June 1994. The way the figure was ultimately agreed upon was by going through all the admittedly

traudulent refunds plus others to which Petitioner did not admit. About three months of refunds were represented in the cross-sampling, and they had already ascertained that the occurrences lasted over three months, so Sherrell asked Petitioner for an estimate of the others during the length of his employment. Petitioner gave a figure of \$3,660 for total thefts, which included \$3,000 for fraudulent refunds, \$360 cash and \$300 merchandise. Sherrell did not use pressure, threats or coercion to get Petitioner to make this statement (T 27, 33, 38-39). The interview began on November 2 at 1:55 p.m. and Petitioner left the store at 5:00 p.m. (T 34). Petitioner asked if he would be arrested and that was when Sherrell stated that he certainly was not a police officer or a judge, that he was simply trying to balance the books for Beall's (T 35, 37). At no time during the interview did he advise Petitioner that if he admitted to this amount, the police would not be involved. After the interview, Sherrell had Petitioner write a letter detailing his admission of theft. Petitioner was shown state's exhibit 2 and agreed that it was his handwriting (T 28). He agreed that he wrote and signed it. State's exhibit 2 was entered into evidence. Beall's sought \$3,660 in restitution for the thefts and \$1,600 in investigative "costs" (T 28-29). He is on salary and received no additional payments. In terms of salary, there was no additional loss to the company as a result of this investigation (T 31). He was asking for Beall's to be reimbursed for money they had already spent for his employment. Sherrell agreed that was what he was employed to do (T 32). Sherrell said Petitioner paid all the money back that he took from the cash register. This was paid back with Petitioner's own money and money from fraudulent refunds. When defense counsel suggested this should be deducted from the total, Sherrell stated it should be multiplied, claiming that if you take \$30 from the register and pay it back with fraudulent refund money, the company loss is doubled from the fraudulent refund (T 40). Sherrell had no idea what the store's losses were for the year (T 41).

Petitioner began his employment at Beall's on September 20, 1993. He was not sure when he was made a supervisor because there was a period of time where he was doing the duties and was not getting the compensation for it (T 47). He did not always work the cash register but he always had access to it. Approximately nine employees had access to the register (T 48). A supervisor was required to give out refunds. There were three supervisors including Petitioner (T 50). Petitioner asked approximately three times for the police to be called and Sherrell's response was "Do you want to go to jail?" Petitioner said no and Sherrell said, "Well, we could keep this between me, you and Beall's. There's no reason to call the cops if we don't have to." After he said Petitioner was a valued employee and they had put a lot of money into him, Petitioner would again ask to call the police. This was prior to the time he wrote the statement. Petitioner was under the impression that they would not call the police because Sherrell had said they did not have to be involved, that they were making a civil demand rather than pressing criminal charges. The \$3,660 figure came from Sherrell. Sherrell told him he had been researching this and asked how much was taken. Petitioner told him he did not know because he was not sure. He did not want to throw out a figure. Sherrell threw out a figure of \$10,000 and Petitioner said no. Sherrell kept throwing outrageous amounts out, which was why it took two hours before he wrote the statement. Sherrell kept saying the cops would not be called (T 51-52). Sherrell thought when he took the \$360 from the safe and then paid it back, he was doubling that. In actuality, the money was taken, then paid back; it was not taken twice. He was getting scared and although he knew he did not take the amount of money Sherrell was talking about, he thought if he promised to pay the restitution to keep him happy, the police would not be involved (T 53). Petitioner said when he would take \$10, for instance, from the safe, he would replace the same amount the next day. Hence, they were not missing \$20. There was no proof it was paid back with fraudulent refund money, but even if he had, there was not \$20 missing, there would have been \$10 missing from the refund because the other \$10 was paid back. Petitioner did not admit the \$360 in cash was missing (T 55). He admitted to Detective Suttle the \$700 in initialled refund slips was the correct loss (T 53, 56). He also admitted he used his roommate and a friend to take merchandise from the store (T 57).

Defense counsel contended that there was only proof of loss by a preponderance of the evidence for \$792 (T 62-63). The court found that the evidence was "ample" to establish losses of \$3,660 in merchandise and cash and that \$1,600 investigative "costs" was reasonable, for a total of \$5,260. The court ordered Petitioner to pay all of the sums ordered to be paid at a minimum of \$100 per month (T 63). The court waived costs of supervision (T 63-64).

Timely Notice of Appeal was filed by Petitioner to the Fourth District Court of Appeal (R 37).

The fourth district in a 2-1 written opinion, Glaubis [sicf v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1323 (Fla. 4th DCA June 5, 1996)[see Appendix], affirmed the assessment of restitution, which included \$1,600 in internal investigative "costs" and \$360 for "cash loss." The district court concluded that these internal investigative "costs" were incurred in uncovering Petitioner's wrongdoing and determining the extent of the loss. Because the district court concluded "that a victim's investigative costs may constitute a proper item for restitution under section 775.089, Florida Statutes (1993)," the court affirmed. Id. In doing so, the fourth district certified conflict with Powell v. State, 595 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 601 So. 2d 553 (Fla. 1992), and Ahnen v. State, 565 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), as it was unable to distinguish these cases, which were relied on

² See footnote in Preliminary Statement.

by Petitioner. In addition, the fourth district struck a condition of probation requiring Petitioner to pay costs of supervision as the trial court had waived the costs of supervision at the sentencing hearing. *Id.* at 1324.

On June 21, 1996, the fourth district issued its mandate.

Timely Notice of Discretionary Review was filed by Petitioner on July 2, 1996. On July 12, 1996, this Court issued its Order postponing a decision on jurisdiction and setting a briefing schedule.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision at bar is certified to be in conflict with *Powell v. State*, 595 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 1st DCA), *review denied*, 601 So. 2d 553 (Fla. 1992), and *Ahnen v. State*, 565 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). Thus, this Court has jurisdiction. Petitioner contends that this decision also conflicts with this Court's holding in *State v. Williams*, 520 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 1988).

The trial court erred in assessing \$1,600 in internal investigative "costs" as part of the restitution Petitioner was ordered to pay as a condition of his probation. This Court must reduce the total restitution of \$5,260 ordered to be paid as a condition of his probation by the \$1,600 amount.

POINT II

Additionally, the \$360 for "cash loss" ordered to be paid as part of the restitution was not proven by a preponderance of the evidence and must also be deducted from the total restitution amount assessed.

internal investigative "costs," \$360 for "cash loss," \$300 for merchandise loss and \$3,000 for fraudulent refunds (R 31, T 63). This was error, requiring reversal.

Petitioner challenges the assessment of \$1,600 internal investigative "costs" as the amount was not proven by a preponderance of the evidence and, in addition, Beall's was not entitled to be awarded \$1,600 in restitution for claimed *internal* investigative "costs" (see also Point II).

Section 775.089(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1993), provides that:

the court shall order the defendant to make restitution to the victim for:

- 1. Damage or loss caused directly or indirectly by the defendant's offense; and
- 2. Damage or loss related to the defendant's criminal episode.

Before restitution may be awarded, there must be a significant relationship between the crime committed and the damages sustained, plus proof that the defendant's conduct directly or indirectly caused the loss. *State v. Williams*, 520 So. 2d 276.

Further, the state bears the burden of establishing the victim's losses by producing sworn victim's testimony to demonstrate the loss by a preponderance of evidence. *Epperley v. State*, 568 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); *Peters v. State*, 555 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (absent sufficient predicate showing basis for opinion on value of property, mere opinion of victims as to value of their lost property was insufficient to establish that value, for purposes of determining restitution required to be paid by defendant). Additionally, the second district has held that the state does not meet its burden of demonstrating loss by a preponderance of the evidence if no documentary evidence is presented. *Williams v. State*, 645 So. 2d 594 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). A victim's

estimate of the loss is insufficient evidence supporting the loss. *Peters v. State*, 555 So. 2d at 451.

It is also well settled that a "condition of probation requiring a probationer to pay money to, and for the benefit of, the victim of his crime cannot require payment in excess of the amount of damage the criminal conduct causes the victim." Fresneda v. State, 347 So. 2d 1021, 1022 (Fla. 1977); Wilson v. State, 452 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 461 So. 2d 116 (Fla. 1984); Smith v. State, 590 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991)(amount of restitution cannot exceed amount of damages or loss caused directly or indirectly by defendant's offense); Reeves v. State, 560 So. 2d 1368 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). "Courts cannot require probationers to pay over random sums of money." Fresneda v. State, 347 So. 2d at 1022.

Here, the state sought reimbursement to Beall's for an estimated \$1,600 in investigative "costs." Mr. Sherrell, a Beall's regional loss prevention manager, testified that various employees spent an estimated 40 hours reviewing refund slips, installing a video camera, reviewing video tapes and driving to and from Orlando (T 18-20, 42-44). When asked by the state what cost per investigative hour Beall's was seeking for restitution, Mr. Sherrell stated, "Well, that would be a somewhat arbitrary figure. I mean none of us are really paid hourly, but again the equipment, the gas money, the company vehicles and time, I would think that \$40 an hour would be fair." (T 21). Mr. Sherrell testified that in terms of salary, there was no additional loss to the company as a result of this investigation (T 31). He agreed he was asking for Beall's to be reimbursed for money that Beall's had already spent for his employment. Mr. Sherrell also agreed that was what he was employed to do (T 32).

Petitioner therefore contends that the trial court erred in ordering Petitioner to reimburse Beall's for \$1,600 in investigative "costs." *Powell v. State*, 595 So. 2d 223;

Ahnen v. State, 565 So. 2d 855; see also Smith v. State, 590 So. 2d 1112 (trial court improperly ordered restitution for the victim's lost wages as the amount of restitution a probationer is required to pay the victim of a crime cannot exceed the amount of damages or loss caused directly or indirectly by a defendant's offense); Osteen v. State, 616 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993)(as restitution awarded must be based upon a significant relationship between crime committed and damages sustained by victim and upon proof that defendant's conduct directly or indirectly caused the loss, court reversed award of restitution for loss of business expenses in this case because the measure of damages was speculative and difficult to prove); compare Hodge v. State, 603 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).⁴

In the instant case, the fourth district affirmed the assessment of \$1,600 in internal investigative "costs" as restitution, concluding that these internal investigative "costs" were incurred in uncovering Petitioner's wrongdoing and determining the extent of the loss. Glaubis [sic] v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly at D1323. The fourth district further concluded "that a victim's investigative costs may constitute a proper item for restitution under section 775.089, Florida Statutes (1993)." Id. In doing so, the fourth district certified conflict with Powell v. State, 595 So. 2d 223, and Ahnen v. State, 565 So. 2d 855, as it was unable to distinguish these cases, which were relied on by Petitioner. Id. at D1324.

⁴ Petitioner would submit that *Hodge v. State*, 603 So. 2d 1329, was also wrongly decided. In that case, the defendant was convicted of theft and the employer's fidelity bond premium was increased. The time spent by the victim and the cost necessary to determine and document the extent of the monetary loss, as required by the fidelity bonding company, was held to be recoverable in restitution. In addition, *Hodge v. State* is distinguishable for several reasons. In *Hodge*, the investigation was required by the fidelity bonding company; it was not initiated purely by the victim as in the case at bar and as in *Powell v. State* and *Ahnen v. State*. In contrast, at bar, Beall's suffered no additional monetary loss as a result of the investigation conducted by the security department. Further, the investigation did not even reveal the amount of the loss. Beall's and the state relied *solely* on Petitioner's statement to determine the amount of the loss.

In Powell v. State, 595 So. 2d 223, Powell's employer contacted the police about losses from his store, which apparently occurred over a period of time. Because the police indicated that discovery of the wrongdoer would be difficult, the victim hired a firm of private investigators. A private investigator videotaped Powell transferring materials from the company truck to his pick-up. Subsequently, Powell was confronted, acknowledged guilt, and the items he was charged with stealing were recovered. As part of its requested restitution, Powell's employer sought restitution for \$1,347.75 for private investigators and \$721.84 for costs of management employee time spent in the investigation. Id. at 224. The first district, applying the standard enunciated by this Court in State v. Williams, 520 So. 2d 276, held that it was error to include the costs of investigation in the restitution order. The first district concluded that restitution for the incidental costs incurred for the private investigator and the internal investigation contemplated reimbursement for damages in excess of those caused by the convicted offense as the evidence did not establish a significant causal relationship between the loss and the convicted offense. Id. at 225.

Similarly, in Ahnen v. State, 565 So. 2d 855, the victim hired a private investigator to locate his stolen property, because he believed the sheriff's office had suppressed evidence and concealed information. Id. The second district also applied State v. Williams to hold that the defendant could not be ordered to reimburse the victim for the private investigator's fee, because the incidental cost of a private investigator would be only remotely the result of the defendant's criminal activity, and not reasonably foreseeable by him. Id. at 856.

Petitioner submits that the first and second district courts in *Powell* and *Ahnen*, respectively, properly applied the test enunciated by this Court in *State v. Williams*, in contrast with the fourth district's holding in *Glaubis [sic]*. Thus, Petitioner further

submits that the holding in the instant cause is also in conflict with this Court's holding in State v. Williams.

The circumstances in the instant case are comparable to those in *Powell* and *Ahnen*.

At bar, the time spent in the *internal* investigation was expended by salaried employees who were retained in the loss prevention office to do exactly the work they did in this case. This is a normal part of doing business in the retail market. Indeed, Mr. Sherrell testified that Beall's did not incur <u>any</u> additional loss to the company as a result of this investigation. The research into the matter was a normal part of the duties of the loss prevention office. That is what the employees are paid for. As in *Ahnen* and particularly *Powell*, Beall's is not entitled to restitution for this internal investigation. This is especially true here where the record reflects that the store suffered <u>no</u> loss or additional salary expenses due to this internal investigation.

Further, this investigation was not needed to determine the amount of the loss as in fact it was not determined. There was never any testimony adduced as to the loss the store suffered even overall during that time period (T 41). Indeed, according to Mr. Sherrell, the loss claimed by Beall's was based totally on Petitioner's estimate of the amount of the loss.

Additionally, and quite significantly, the \$1,600 amount that Beall's requested reimbursement for was not even proven by a preponderance of the evidence as it was purely an arbitrary amount as Mr. Sherrell admitted. He provided no salary figures for the various employees and noted that they were all salaried employees and not hourly employees. Utilizing Mr. Sherrell's admittedly "arbitrary" figure of \$40 per hour and a 40-hour work week amounts to an average \$83,200 annual salary for the clerk, investigator and managers. Mr. Sherrell's \$40 per hour figure and approximation of 40

hours spent in the internal investigation were merely "guesstimates" and therefore the trial court erred in basing this \$1,600 amount on them.

A victim is not entitled to be reimbursed for more than the loss incurred, which certainly appears to be the result at bar. See Fresneda v. State, 347 So. 2d 1022; Wilson v. State, 452 So. 2d 84.

Assuming arguendo this Court determines that in some limited circumstances a victim's investigative costs may be recoverable as restitution, Petitioner further submits that the instant case would not fall into that category for several reasons. First, the internal investigative "costs" in this case simply do not meet the test enunciated in State v. Williams. Second, the investigation at bar was not necessary to determine the extent of the loss as, in fact, the record reveals it did not do so. Finally, and quite significantly, it is undisputed that there was no loss to Beall's as a result of this internal investigation.

Thus, the \$1,600 restitution awarded Beall's for internal investigative "costs" must be deducted from the total restitution ordered, resulting in a restitution assessment of \$3,300.

Therefore, this Honorable Court should accept jurisdiction of this cause, approve the decisions in *Powell* and *Ahnen*, and <u>reverse</u> the instant decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, <u>in part</u>, wherein it affirms the assessment of \$1,600 in internal investigative "costs." The total amount of restitution of \$5,260 should be reduced by this amount.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT FURTHER ERRED IN ORDERING PETITIONER TO PAY \$360 IN RESTITUTION FOR "CASH LOSS."

At sentencing, the trial court also required Petitioner to repay Beall's Outlet for \$360 in "cash loss" as part of the \$5,260 restitution Petitioner was ordered to pay as a condition of his probation (R 31, T 63). The trial court also erred in imposing this amount of restitution.⁵

The award of restitution must be reduced by the \$360 assessed for "cash loss" as this loss was not proven by a preponderance of the evidence.

As set forth in Point I, it is the *state* which bears the burden of establishing the victim's losses by producing sworn victim's testimony to demonstrate the loss by a preponderance of evidence. *Epperley v. State*, 568 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); *Peters v. State*, 555 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). A victim's estimate of the loss is insufficient evidence supporting the loss. *Peters v. State*, 555 So. 2d at 451. Additionally, documentary evidence may even be required before the state will be deemed to have met its burden of demonstrating loss by a preponderance of the evidence. *Williams v. State*, 645 So. 2d 594 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994).

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