IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

ERIC LEE GLABUIS,

SID J. WHITE

FILED

Petitioner,

AUG 28 1996

v.

CHIEFE, SUPPLIENT COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. 88,413

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL Tallahassee, Florida

GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA Senior Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 441510

JOSEPH A. TRINGALI Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0134924 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd., Ste. 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the prosecution in the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida and appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal; Petitioner was the defendant in the Circuit Court and the appellant in the appellate court.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court, except that the Respondent may also be referred to as "State" or "Prosecution."

The following symbols will be used;

AB = Appellant's Initial Brief

R = Record on Appeal

T = Transcript of Restitution Hearing

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and facts for purposes of this appeal in so far as they present an accurate, objective and non-argumentative recital of the procedural history and facts in the record, and subject to the additions and clarifications set forth below and in the argument portion of this brief which are necessary to resolve the legal issues presented upon appeal.

The additions, corrections or modifications on which Respondent relies are as follows:

(1) Petitioner admitted to Gregory Sherrel that he stole \$360 in cash (T 22, 49), \$300 in merchandise (T 49) and \$3,000 in fraudulent refunds (T 27).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I

A trial court must award restitution to a victim for damage or loss "caused directly or indirectly by the defendant's offense." This Court has strictly construed the concept of "cause" which, by definition, includes the concept of foreseeability. The cases from the Second District which hold that damages must be foreseeable are therefore not in conflict with this Court or the instant decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal. At bar, the cost of the victim store's internal investigation was both caused by Petitioner and foreseeable by him.

The cost of that investigation was proven by a preponderance of the evidence, and the trial court did not err in its finding.

II

A preponderance of the evidence supports the trial court's ruling that Petitioner stole \$360 in cash from his employer. The trial court did not err in accepting that evidence.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ORDERING PETITIONER TO PAY \$1,600 FOR INTERNAL INVESTIGATIVE COSTS AS A CONDITION OF PROBATION.

In his first point on appeal, Petitioner asserts that the trial court erred when it ordered him to pay \$1,600 restitution for internal investigative costs following his plea of nolo contendere to grand theft, and, further, that the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion which affirmed the order is in conflict with this Court's opinion in *State v. Williams*, 520 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 1988). Respondent strongly disagrees.

Section 775.089, Florida Statutes (1993) requires a trial court to order a defendant to make restitution to a victim for damage or loss 'caused directly or indirectly by the defendant's offense." In J.S.H. v. State, 472 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 1985) and again in State v. Williams, 520 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 1988), this Court discussed causation by applying a 'but for' test: in J.S.H. the Court held that damage to a boat would not have occurred "but for" the theft of certain equipment, and in Williams the Court said that damages arising out of an automobile accident would have occurred whether or not the defendant had left the scene of that accident. Thus, this Court has twice come down squarely on the side of causality, holding, particularly in Williams, that it would not ignore the statutory language which provided for restitution for damages caused by the offense. Therefore, Respondent submits, the question before this Court is not simply whether it is proper for a trial court to order restitution for investigative costs. The real issue is whether those costs were caused by the

<u>4</u>

defendant's action.

Although the Fourth District Court of Appeal has certified a conflict with the Second District's opinion in Ahnen v. State, 565 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), there is no conflict when a causation analysis is applied. In Ahnen, Second District likened the element of causation to the proximate cause required in tort law between a tortious act and the resulting damage, and cited to its earlier opinion in Arling v. State, 559 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) where it approved restitution for attorney's fees incurred by a victim, finding it "reasonably foreseeable to a person dealing in stolen goods that legal action might be necessary to determine the lawful owner of the stolen goods." Similarly, in Dickson v. State, 622 So. 2d 179 (2d DCA 1993), the Second District approved a restitution award which included the cost of a private investigator, holding that it was "reasonably foreseeable that [a] mother would use any available method for locating her son, including hiring a private investigator."

The concept of foreseeability is a basic element of proximate cause. See, e.g., McCain v. Florida Power Corp., 593 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 1992); Coker v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 692 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Black's Law Dictionary, Sixth Edition, says that the "proximate cause of an injury is the primary or moving cause, or that which, in a natural and continuous sequence . . . produces the injury . . . if the injury be one which might be reasonably anticipated or foreseen . . ." Respondent respectfully submits that the Second District's refusal in Ahnen to approve a restitution award which included the cost of a private investigator arose not because of a lack of causation but because of a lack of foreseeability. In Ahnen, as in Dickson, the victim hired a private investigator. However, in Ahnen the victim did so because he believed that the sheriff's department had been "suppressing evidence and concealing information" -- clearly a circumstance which no reasonable

<u>5</u>

::5ERF.APPEAL.S.JOE!9613291.WPD

person could foresee.

Respondent further submits that the First District Court of Appeal went too far in *Powell v. State*, 595 So. 2d 223, 225 (Fla. 1st DCA), *rev. denied*, 601 So. 2d 553 (Fla. 1992), when it reversed a restitution order which included the cost of an internal investigation, holding that such costs were "reimbursement for damages in excess of those caused by the convicted offense." In reaching that decision, the First District reasoned that "once the employer decided to hire a private investigator, he was obligated to pay the costs of the investigation -- and those costs would have attached even if appellant had not been discovered loading company materials in his own truck." However, Respondent suggests the court should have used the reasoning of this Court in *J.S.H., supra*, and followed by the Second District: that is, 'but for' losses from Powell's employer's store, there would have been no need to hire private investigators in the first place. As the Fifth District Court of Appeal said in *Mayer v. State*, 632 So. 2d 678, 679 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), when it affirmed an order of restitution which included the expense of an company's internal audit: "Without [the defendant's] criminal act, there would have been no need for an audit of the books to determine the amount of the theft."

In the case at bar, Petitioner held a supervisory position at his employer's store. His theft caused an internal investigation and, especially in view of the fact that he was employed in such a position, that investigation was reasonably foreseeable by him. Thus, the Fourth District Court of Appeal properly concluded that the investigation was caused by Petitioner's action, and, while its opinion does not directly discuss foreseeability, it is completely in line with the decisions of this Court and the Second District Court of Appeal.

Petitioner raises two ancillary arguments with regard to the cost of the internal investigation.

<u>6</u>

rersappealsnoe%613291.Wpd

In the first, he contends that it is improper to award the costs of an internal investigation as a component of restitution because the time spent in the investigation was expended to do exactly the work they did in this case (AB 14). The short answer, of course, is that 'but for' Petitioner's theft, the salaried employees could have been put to work doing other, more profitable jobs such as preventing external theft. The fact that an employer is forced to hire a person to protect his property and then must use that person to protect against internal theft, does not make that person's salary any less of a cost to the employer than if he had hired outside help.

Petitioner's second objection, that the witness who supplied the cost figure did not provide salary figures for the employees involved in the investigation, is equally groundless. It is well settled that the State bears the burden of proving the amount of a restitution award by a preponderance of the evidence. *Winborn v. State*, 625 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). Once again, it is basic law that "preponderance of evidence" is evidence which is of greater weight or more convincing than the evidence which is offered in opposition to it; evidence which is more credible and convincing to the mind; evidence which best accords with reason and probability. Black's Law Dictionary, Sixth Edition. In the case at bar, the 40 hour estimate of the length of the investigation and the \$40 per hour cost given by the person who performed it (T 21) was the only evidence submitted on the subject. Therefore it was, by definition, a preponderance of evidence on the subject.

The decision of the Fourth District should be approved.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ORDERED PETITIONER TO PAY \$360 IN RESTITUTION FOR "CASH LOSS."

In his second point on appeal, Petitioner contends that the trial court erred in imposing restitution in the amount of \$360 for cash loss. Once again, Respondent respectfully disagrees.

It is well settled that the State has the burden of showing the amount of loss a victim has sustained by a preponderance of the evidence. *Crosby v. State*, 637 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994); *Touchton v. State*, 616 So. 2d 1124 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), and that acceptance of a victim's valuation of loss is a matter for the trial judge's discretion. *State v. Hawthorne*, 573 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1991).

In the case at bar, Petitioner admitted to stealing \$360 in cash from his employer (T 22, 49). Now he wishes to reargue whether, when and how that money was replaced, and, if it was, whether it was replaced with Petitioner's own cash or other stolen money. Respondent respectfully submits that these issues were heard in the trial court, and the trial judge properly exercised his discretion in finding that Petitioner had taken \$360 in cash. That finding is supported by the evidence and it should not be disturbed. The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal should be approved.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited herein, Respondent respectfully submits that this Court should decline to take jurisdiction over the cause as there is no legal conflict between the Fourth District Court of Appeal's ruling at bar and the decisions of the Second District Court of Appeal. However, should this Court decide to accept jurisdiction, then, in that event, Respondent submits that the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal should be approved.